73457-1

FILED September 25, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington



COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

VAN NHU HUYNH, Respondent,

v.

LEUNG HING LI, Appellant,

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GLYN E. LEWIS Attorney for Appellant

Glyn E. Lewis Law Office of Glyn E. Lewis 1100 Dexter Ave. N., Ste. 100 Seattle, Washington 98109 TEL (206) 661-5773 glyn@glynelewis.com

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error No. 1

The trial court erred by granting Respondent Van Nhu Huynh ("Huynh") 's motion for summary judgment on the ground that Huynh had acquired title to real properties jointly owned with Appellant Leung Hing Li ("Li") through adverse possession.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No 1

Whether the trial court failed to apply the correct standard of proof, clear and convincing evidence, to Huynh's claim of adverse possession against her cotenant, Li.

Whether a co-tenant can acquire title through adverse possession to a jointly owned property by collecting rents and paying taxes.

Whether mere knowledge of a co-tenant out of possession of the fact of the other cotenant's possession can be converted into proof of a hostile claim.

Whether the court relied on disputed facts in granting the motion for summary judgment.

Whether the ten year statute of limitations ran on Li's cross claim for partition and accounting.

Assignment of Error No. 2

The trial court erred in denying Li's motion to continue the hearing on the motion for summary judgment so Li could complete discovery.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No 2

Whether Li had a good reason for the delay in completing discovery prior to the hearing on the motion for summary judgment.

Whether Li identified additional evidence that could be obtained through Li's pending discovery.

Whether Li's pending discovery and anticipated second session of Huynh's deposition could raise genuine issues of material fact.

II. INTRODUCTION

This case arises out of a dispute between Li, and his ex-wife, Huynh, over the ownership of three real properties jointly owned by Li and Huynh. Li and Huynh were married from 1980 to 1987. Li acquired the first jointly owned real property in 1979, before the parties' marriage, in his own name. After their divorce Li and Huynh continued to live together until 1997.

In 1988, Li and Huynh acquired the second jointly owned real property, as "husband and wife", despite the fact that they had been divorced. In 1991, Li and Huynh acquired the third jointly owned real property as "husband and wife". In 1997, Li left Washington State and moved to New York with his new wife. From 1997 to 2011 Huynh never took any overt action that put Li on notice that Huynh was claiming the three real properties as her own or that she did not recognize Li's interest in their jointly owned property. In 1998, Huynh sent Li a property expenses on his tax return. In 2000 Huynh also shared the sales proceeds of one of their jointly owned real properties with Li.

In 2011 Huynh requested that Li transfer title to the three subject real properties to her. When Li refused, Huynh filed an action for quiet title against Li in September 2012 on the ground that Huynh had contributed all the money toward the purchase of the subject properties. Li subsequently filed a cross claim against Huynh for partition of the three subject real properties and an accounting.

In April 2015 the trial court granted Huynh's motion for summary judgment on Huynh's complaint and Li's cross claims on the grounds that Huynh had acquired title to the three jointly owned subject properties through adverse possession against Li.

Li now asks this Court to reverse the trial court's ruling on Huyhn's motion for summary judgment and permit Li to complete his discovery regarding Huyhh's adverse possession claim.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. LI purchases the Letitia Property in 1979 before Marriage

On March 23, 1979, prior to the parties' marriage, Li purchased the real property located at 4431 Letitia Ave. S., Seattle, WA 98118 (the "Letitia Property") in his own name using his own income. See Declaration of Leung Hing Li ("Li Dec.") at paragraph 2, Clerk's Papers ("CP") transmitted under Appeal No. 07-01-2015I (235 pages) at page 54. Also see grant deed for the Letitia Property to Li attached to the Li Dec. as Exhibit "1", CP 64. The Letitia Property was the first of the three real properties acquired by the parties that are the subject of the above captioned action. Li married Huynh in September 1980 and they lived at the Letitia Property from 1980 to 1993. See Li Dec. at paragraph 3, CP 55.

B. LI and HUYNH start Asia Discount Center during Marriage

During their marriage, Li and Huynh started a wholesale grocery business called Asia Discount Center ("ADC") and a furniture store called United Imports. ADC began doing business in 1982 and United Imports began doing business in July 1987, four months before the parties' divorced in November 1987. See Li Dec. at paragraph 3, CP 55. During their marriage ADC was the community property of Li and Huynh. See Deposition of Huynh ("Huynh Depo.") at page 19, lines 1-12, attached as Exhibit "1" to the Declaration of Glyn E. Lewis ("Lewis Dec."), CP 112, and Li Dec. at paragraph 5, CP 55.

Although, the parties' divorce decree provided that the proceeds from the sale of ADC would be divided equally between Li and Huynh, ADC was never sold and the parties continued to live and do business together. See Divorce Decree attached as Exhibit "2" to the Li Dec, CP 66-70. To this very day ADC was never been sold and has never ceased operating. See Li Dec. at paragraph 5, CP 55.

C. LI gives HUYNH a general power of attorney in April 1987

In April 1987 Li gave Huynh a general power of attorney to handle his financial affairs. A true and correct copy of the general power of attorney is attached to the Li Dec. as Exhibit "11", CP 90-91. Li gave Huynh the general power of attorney because Li spent much of his time traveling to China on business and Huynh had more time to devote to handling Li and Huynh 's financial affairs. See Huynh Depo at page 45, lines 9-13, Ex. 1 to Lewis Dec., CP 121, and Li Dec at paragraph 25, CP 60-61.

After the parties divorce in 1987 Huynh continued to handle Li's financial affairs and Huynh was the point of contact with the parties' accountant until 1997. See Li Dec at paragraph

- 4 -

25, CP 60-61. The general power of attorney was still in effect when Huynh filed the above captioned complaint for quiet title in 2012. See letter from Huynh's former attorney, dated May 17, 2012, attached as Exhibit "9" to Li Dec., CP 85-86. Moreover, the power of attorney was never revoked by either party. See Li Dec at paragraph 25, CP 60-61, and Huynh Depo at page 134, lines 7-10, Ex. "1" to Lewis Dec., CP 136.

D. LI and HUYNH acquire the Victoria and 13th Ave. Properties after divorce as husband and wife.

After November 2, 1987, Li and Huynh continued to hold themselves out as husband and wife, and acquired two other real properties as husband wife using their joint income from ADC. From 1987 to 1993 the Li and Huynh both worked at United Imports, while Huynh 's sister, Jenny Law, managed ADC. See Huynh Depo at page 83, lines 19-24, Ex. 1 to Lewis Dec., CP 132, and Li Dec. at paragraph 4. Although Li primarily worked at United Imports during this time period he would also work at ADC when the furniture store was not open. See Li Dec. at paragraph 4, CP 55.

On September 6, 1988, less than a year after obtaining a divorce decree, Li and Huynh purchased the second jointly owned real property located at 1725 Victoria Avenue SW (the "Victoria Property") for \$178,000. The parties used their joint income from ADC to purchase the Victoria Property. A true and correct copy of the grant deed and settlement statement for the Victoria Property are respectively attached to the Li Dec as Exhibits "3" and "4", CP 72 and 74-75. Li and Huynh took title to the Victoria Property as husband and wife because they believed that there was still a prospect for re-marrying. See Li Dec at paragraph 6, CP 56.

- 5 -

Li and Huynh intended to build a new home on the Victoria Property as their future residence. However the process of building the home took much longer than expected and the parties did not move into the Victoria Property until 1993. Li personally participated in building the new home at the Victoria Property from 1990 to 1993 by supervising construction, installing marble floors, and hiring the general contractor, architect and engineer. Li had hired three different general contractors before the house at the Victoria Property was completed in 1993. See Li Dec. at paragraph 7, CP 56.

In October 1991 Huynh 's sister, Jenny Law, secretly applied to change the name of ADC's business license to Huynh 's name without the knowledge or consent of Li. Huynh Depo at page 108, lines 5-25, Ex. 1 to Dec of Lewis, CP 135. Li learned for the first time that Huynh 's sister changed the name on ADC's business license when Huynh responded to Li's document requests in August 2014. See Li Dec at paragraph 21, CP 59.

On November 1, 1991, Li and Huynh purchased the third jointly owned real property at 2367 13th Ave., Seattle WA 98144 (the "13th Ave. Property"). Li suggested that they purchase the 13th Ave. Property as an investment property and Huynh agreed.. See Huynh Depo. at page 71, line 23 to page 72, line 6, Ex. 1 to Lewis Dec, CP 130-131. The parties again took title as "husband and wife" because they still believed there was a possibility of reconciliation. See Huynh Depo. at page 70, lines 19 to page 71, line 5, Ex. 1 to Lewis Dec, CP 129-130. A true and correct copy of the grant deed for the 13th Ave. Property is attached to the Li Dec. as Exhibit "5", CP 77.

The parties used their income from ADC to purchase the 13th Ave. Property. See Huynh Depo at page 72, line 23-25, Ex. 1 to Lewis Dec, CP 131. The 13th Ave Property was rented out

- 6 -

for several years until a tree fell on the residence. After the tree fell the house was demolished and the 13th Ave. Property has been left vacant ever since. See Li Dec. at paragraph 8, CP 56.

E. HUYNH is placed on the title of the Letitia Property in 1992 for the purpose of acquiring a construction loan

In 1992 Li and Huynh applied for a construction loan for building the new home on the Victoria Property. Huynh convinced Li to secure the construction loan with the Letitia Property instead of the Victoria Property. In the process of securing the construction loan, Huynh's name was placed on the title of the Letitia Property as "husband and wife" with Li. See Li Dec at paragraph 9, CP 56-57, and grant deed for the Letitia Property, dated June 18, 1992, attached as Exhibit "6" to the Li Dec, CP 79.

In 1992, the proceeds from the construction loan were placed in joint bank account in the names of both Li and Huynh. Huynh did not close this joint bank account with Li until March 2014. Once the construction of the new home was finished in 1993 LI and Huynh moved into the Victoria Property and began renting out the Letitia Property. See Li Dec at paragraph 10, CP 57. The rental income from the Letitia Property was placed in the parties' joint account and was used to pay the property expenses. See Deposition of Huyhn at page 26, line 2 to page 27, line 5, page 28, lines 19-21, Ex. "1" to Lewis Dec., CP 113-115, and East West Bank Account statements attached to the Li Dec as Exhibit "14", CP 97-102. Huynh also deposited her income into the joint checking account with Li from 1991 to 1995. See Huynh Depo., page 28, line 19 to Page 29, line 7, Ex. 1 to Lewis Dec., CP 115-116.

F. HUYNH incorporates Asia Discount Center in 1993 without the knowledge of LI

In 1993 Huynh incorporated ADC without the knowledge of Li. See Huynh Depo at page 95, lines 2-5, Ex. 1 to Lewis Dec., CP 133. Huynh incorporated ADC because she was hurt and disappointed that LI had brought a live-in girl friend to live with them at the Victoria Property. See Declaration of Huynh at paragraph 7, CP 56. In the process of incorporating ADC, Huynh unilaterally and without LI's knowledge or consent, listed herself as the sole owner, director and officer of ADC. Li learned for the first time that Huynh had incorporated ADC in 2014 when Li contacted his current counsel. See Li Dec at paragraph 22, CP 59-60. ADC continued operating at the same location and same employees before and after incorporation. and Deposition of Huynh at page 102, lines 5-8, Ex "1" to Lewis Dec. CP 134.

From 1993 to 1997 Li continued to work for ADC and built an office at ADC's warehouse. Li and Huynh also continued to live together and share expenses. See Li Dec at paragraph 11, CP 57. A true and correct copy of the Li and Huynh's joint auto insurance liability cards and credit cards from this time period are attached to the Li Dec as Exhibit "7", CP 81. Huynh continued to receiving utility bills in the name of Li for the Victoria and Letitia Properties until 2012. See utility bills, attached to the Li Dec as Exhibit "15", CP 104-105.

G. LI marries another woman in 1995 and moves to New York in 1997

In 1995 Li married his current wife in China. Although Li was married to another woman he continued living with Huynh because his new wife did not yet have authorization to immigrate to the United States. In 1996 Li sold his interest in United Imports for \$70,000 and began looking for other business opportunities. See Li Dec. at paragraph 12, CP 57.

- 8 -

Soon after LI sold his interest in United Imports, Li's brother-in-law invited him to come to California to join his furniture business. Li agreed and moved to California 1997 to join his brother-in-law's business. Shortly after moving to California in 1997 Li moved to New York with his brother and his new wife because they believed that the prospects for a furniture business were better in New York than in California. See Li Dec. at paragraph 13, CP 57. By contrast, Huynh falsely alleges that she began adversely possessing the three subject real properties in 1997 when she "refused to let him [Li] live in the home." See Declaration of Huynh at paragraph 8, CP 3.

In 1998, after Li had moved to New York, Li and Huynh decided to sell a jointly owned real property adjacent to the Letitia Property as a vacant lot and divide the proceeds. Li gave Huynh a special power of attorney to accomplish the sale and the proceeds were divided among Li and Huynh. See Special Power of Attorney, dated June 25 1998, signed by Li for Huynh and a letter from an attorney, dated May 5, 2000, confirming the distribution of the sales proceeds to Huynh and Li, are respectively attached to the Li Dec as Exhibits "12" and "13", CP 93 and 95.

In April 1998, more than a year after Li left Washington State, Huynh sent Li a breakdown of the property expenses for the Letitia Property and the Victoria Property in 1997 so Li could deduct half the property expenses on his tax return. See Li Dec at paragraph 26, CP 61-62. A true and correct copy of the property expense summaries Huynh sent to Li for the Letitia and Victoria Properties in 1997 are attached to the Li Dec as Exhibit "16", CP 107-108.

After the above sale of the jointly owned property adjacent to the Letitia Property, from 2000 to 2011, Li and Huynh spoke on the telephone briefly three or four times. Not once during these three or four phone conversations did the parties discuss the Subject real properties. See

- 9 -

Huynh Depo. at page 54, line 8 to page 57, line 10, Ex. "1" to Lewis Dec., CP 125-128, and Li Dec. at paragraph 14, CP 57.

H. HUYNH requests LI to transfer the Subject Properties to her for the first time in 2011

The first time that Huynh requested Li to transfer the Subject Properties to her was in 2011, when Li received a letter from Huynh 's attorney requesting Li to quitclaim his interest in the Subject Properties to Huynh. See Li Dec. at paragraph 15, CP 58, and Huynh Depo at page 53, lines 7-25, Ex. "1" to Lewis Dec., CP 124. A true and correct copy of the letter from Huynh 's attorney to LI, dated September 30, 2011, is attached to the LI Dec as Exhibit "8", CP 83.

Huynh hired another attorney in 2012 to write a letter to Li requesting that Li transfer title to the Subject Properties to Huynh purportedly to protect Li from non-existent judgment creditors. Li Dec. at paragraph 16, CP 58. A true and correct copy of the letter from Huynh 's second attorney, dated May 17, 2012, is attached to the Li Dec. as Exhibit "9", CP 85-86.

I. Huynh files a complaint to quiet title in the three real properties and Li cross complains for partition and accounting.

On September 11, 2012, Huynh filed a complaint to quiet title in the subject real properties on the ground that she had contributed all the money towards the purchase of the real properties. Huynh did not plead a claim for adverse possession of the three subject real properties in her complaint. Li subsequently filed a cross complaint against Huynh for partition of the subject real properties and for an accounting against Huynh.

J. The court grants Huynh's motion for summary judgment on Huynh's complaint and Li's cross claim.

On February 27, 2015, the court heard oral argument on Huynh's motion for summary judgment and granted Huynh's motion in its entirety based on Huynh's un-pled claim of adverse possession. See Order Granting Huynh's Motion for Summary Judgment, CP 181-182. In the oral ruling granting summary judgment the court did not make any findings of fact or conclusions of law supporting the ruling. See transcript of oral argument at page 25. However, during the hearing the court did inquire about Huynh's failure to send Li the property expense breakdown for the subject real properties after 1998. See transcript of oral argument at page 10, lines 16-19 and 15, lines 22-23.

Huynh's counsel argued during the hearing and in the reply to Li's response that Huynh's failure to send the property expense breakdown for the Subject Properties after 1998 was evidence that Huynh was making a hostile claim to the parties' jointly owned properties. Huynh's counsel further argued that Li's failure to claim tax deductions for the property expenses for the subject properties on his federal tax return after 1998 was an admission that he did not own the subject properties. See transcript of oral argument at page 4, lines 17-25.

As evidence against Huynh's argument that the failure to send a property expense breakdown after 1998 constituted an adverse claim, Li's counsel specifically cited Huynh's agreement to share the sales proceed of one of their jointly owned properties in 2000, Huynh's complete silence from 1998 to 2011 regarding her alleged hostile claim to the parties jointly owned properties, and Huynh's deposit of the rental income in a jointly owned bank account with Li until March 2014. See transcript of oral argument at page 10, line 25 to page 12, line12.

- 11 -

In the response to the motion for summary judgment and during oral argument Li's counsel informed the court that there was pending discovery regarding Huynh's un-pled claim of adverse possession. See Transcript of oral argument at page 8, lines 4-6. Li's counsel orally requested a continuance of the hearing on the motion for summary judgment on the grounds that Huynh hadn't responded to Li's discovery regarding adverse possession, which the court denied. See transcript of oral hearing at page 8, lines 9-15. Li then a made a written motion to reconsider the ruling on the motion for summary judgment and to continue the hearing on the motion for summary judgment so Li could complete discovery.

K. The court denies Li's motion for reconsideration and to continue the hearing on the motion for summary judgment in order to complete discovery

On March 4, 2015, Li filed a motion to reconsider the court's ruling on the motion for summary judgment and to continue the hearing on the motion for summary judgment so Li could complete discovery. CP 183-192.

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