I. ISSUES ON APPEAL 

1. Where Appellant Leung Hing Li's own testimony clearly 

and conclusively proved the elements of adverse possession, did the trial 

court properly grant summary judgment in favor of Respondent Van Nhu 

Huynh (hereinafter "Van")? 

2. Where Li sought continuance under CR 56(f) only after the 

trial court's summary judgment decision, did not explain why the desired 

evidence could not be obtained earlier during the years this case had been 

pending (since 2012), and did not specify any desired evidence that would 

raise an issue of material fact, did the trial court properly exercise its 

discretion in denying Li's CR 56(f) motion for continuance?

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The trial court correctly applied the controlling adverse possession 

standards in Chaplin v. Sanders, 100 Wn.2d 853, 676 P.2d 431 (1984) and 

Nicholas v. Cousins, 1 Wn. App. 133, 459 P.2d 970 (1969) to Li's own 

testimony and evidence to resolve the parties' disputes as a matter of law.  

Citing no alternative standards, Li insisted the over-100-year-old Graves 

v. Graves, 48 Wash. 664, 94 P. 481 (1908) and Hicks v. Hicks, 69 Wash. 

627, 125 P. 945 (1912) were "factually similar" and therefore controlling, 

even though both cases lack any outward act of exclusive ownership by 

                                                 
2 The RP citations in this brief refer to the corrected Verbatim Transcript of Proceedings 
filed with this Court on or about 11/24/2015, not the previous version which contains 
multiple errors. 
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the adverse claimants. 

Contrary to Li's assertions, the trial court did not rely on disputed 

facts, but on Li's own specific testimony/evidence about Van's excluding 

him from ownership and shutting him out in every way after 1998.  Li's 

conclusory statements about his subjective belief are unreasonable under 

the circumstances and insufficient to raise a question of fact for summary 

judgment purposes.  Moreover, Li's alleged factual disputes are irrelevant 

to any dispositive issue and do not raise any issue of material fact. 

As to Li's "express trust" argument to toll the statute of limitation, 

the almost 3-decade-old, never-before-used power of attorney signed by 

Li alone while the parties were still married does not constitute any 

"express trust" under the law.  Li's argument is also belied by Li's own 

testimony that he had no agreement with Van to manage his finances.  

Even assuming an express trust arguendo, Li's claim would have been 

barred by the 3-year statute of limitation many years ago. 

Lastly, Li's motion for continuance was made after the trial court's 

summary judgment ruling and therefore untimely.  It also failed to satisfy 

the CR 56(f) requirements and failed to specify evidence sought that 

would meet any dispositive issue or create any material issue of fact.  The 

trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying Li's untimely 

motion for continuance. 
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V. ARGUMENT 

A. The trial court correctly applied the controlling standards 
stated in Chaplin and Nicholas for adverse possession. 

 
Of the adverse possession elements, Li disputed only the "hostile" 

element in the trial court, but did not define this element and did not set 

forth any standard of analysis or any material fact.  See CP 46:1-49:4 (Sec. 

B of Li's arguments opposing summary judgment).3 

Our Supreme Court thoroughly reexamined the "hostility/claim of 

right" element to clarify prior confusion in the case law, and concluded 

that it "requires only that the claimant treat the land as his own as against 

the world throughout the statutory period." Chaplin v. Sanders, 100 Wn.2d 

853, 860-61, 676 P.2d 431 (1984).  The nature of one's possession will be 

determined solely on the basis of the manner in which one treats the 

property.  Id. at 861.  The new Chaplin standard applies to all adverse 

possession cases. 

Although stronger evidence is required to show adverse possession 

by a tenant in common than by a stranger, the evidence need not differ in 

kind.  Nicholas v. Cousins, 1 Wn. App. 133, 137, 459 P.2d 970 (1969). 

"Actual verbal or written notice is not required."  Id.  What is required is 

                                                 
3 Li also argued in the trial court that Van's complaint was deficient and he did not get 
fair notice (CP 44-45).  Van responded to the argument with the applicable authority and 
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"exclusive ownership" .  .  . "of such a nature as to preclude the idea of a 

joint ownership brought home to the cotenant, or so open and public a 

character that a reasonable man would discover it."  Id. 

In the case at bar, Li's own testimony clearly and conclusively 

shows Van treated the Subject Properties as her own as against him and 

the world for well over the statutory period under RCW 4.16.020.  See the 

Statement of Fact section above with citations to CP.  Even according to 

Li, Van's actions clearly excluded him from ownership since 1998, and 

precluded the idea of a joint ownership in any reasonable person's mind 

after 1998.  There is no issue of material fact under the standards set forth 

in Chaplin and Nicholas. 

Li argues Chaplin and Nicholas are inapplicable by pointing out 

some irrelevant factual differences between the two cases and the case at 

bar.  App. Br. at 15.  However, the standards in Chaplin and Nicholas are 

for general application, are not limited to the facts of those cases, and are 

not affected in any way by those factual differences.  See Chaplin, 100 

Wn.2d at 859 ("new approach to the requirement of hostility") and 861, 

n.2 (overruling a litany of prior cases and other unspecified cases to the 

extent inconsistent with the Chaplin standard); Nicholas, 1 Wn. App. at 

                                                                                                                         
showed why Li's argument was untenable and meritless (CP 141-42).  Li has not made 
this argument on appeal and appears to have abandoned the argument. 



  
 

 
13 

138 (describing the rule stated above as the general rule in Washington for 

the situation where both cotenants are aware of cotenancy). 

Li proffered no alternative standard for analysis and relied instead 

on over-100-year-old Graves v. Graves, 48 Wash. 664, 94 P. 481 (1908) 

and Hicks v. Hicks, 69 Wash. 627, 125 P. 945 (1912) as factually similar, 

but both Graves and Hicks lack outward act of exclusive ownership by the 

adverse claimants that would put the non-possessing cotenants on notice.  

Both Graves and Hicks also predated the 16th Amendment to the 

Constitution of the United States and the existence of federal income tax 

returns.4 

Li should be estopped from claiming ownership to the properties 

because it is contrary to his tax returns admittedly since 1998.  Litigants in 

civil suits are estopped from making representations to the court that are 

contrary to those made on income tax returns.  See Mahoney-Buntzman v. 

Buntzman, 12 N.Y.3d 415, 881 N.Y.S.2d 369, 909 N.E.2d 62 (2009) (see a 

copy of this case at CP 146-48).  Li's home state's highest court has said, 

“[w]e cannot, as a matter of policy, permit parties to assert positions in 

legal proceedings that are contrary to declarations made under the penalty 

                                                 
4 The 16th Amendment gave Congress the power to impose and collect income tax.  It 
was proposed by the Sixty-first Congress on July 12, 1909, and was declared, in a 
proclamation of the Secretary of State, dated February 25, 1913, to have been ratified.  
U.S. Constitution Amendment 16, Explanatory Notes. 
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of perjury on income tax returns.” Id.; see also Naghavi v. NY Life Ins., 

688 N.Y.S.2d 530, 531, 260 A.D.2d 252 (1999) (see a copy of this case at 

CP 149).  Our Supreme Court also wants tax payers to be consistent and 

similarly discussed a "duty of consistency."  See Clemency v. State, 175 

Wn.2d 549, 569, 290 P.3d 99 (2012). 

B. The trial court's summary judgment was based on undisputed 
facts and Li's own specific testimony; Li's unreasonable and 
conclusory statements are insufficient to raise an issue of fact. 

 
It is well established that a party opposing summary judgment may 

not rely merely upon allegations or self-serving statements, but must set 

forth specific facts showing a genuine issue of material fact for trial.  

Newton Ins. v. Caledonian Ins., 114 Wn. App. 151, 157, 52 P.3d 30 

(2002).  Ultimate facts, conclusions of fact, conclusory statements of fact 

or legal conclusions are insufficient to raise a question of fact.  Snohomish 

County v. Rugg, 115 Wn. App. 218, 224, 61 P.3d 1184 (2002). 

Li argued in the trial court below and argues again on appeal that 

the following raise factual issues: (1) he was not "kicked out of the house"  

but left in 1997; (2) the parties sold and split proceeds of another unrelated 

property in 2000; (3) his name was on a "joint" account for 17 years 

without alleging or providing evidence that he put any money in it; (4) his 

name was on some utility bills without alleging or providing any evidence 

that he paid any of the utility bills; (5) Li received an expense breakdown 
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in April 1998 (for the 1997 tax return); (6) Li was not notified of Van's 

adversely possessing the Subject Properties until being requested to 

transfer them in 2011; (7) Li thought Van was helping him until being 

sued in 2012.  See CP 46-48; App. Br. at 19-21.  However, these items are 

irrelevant or immaterial to the "hostility/claim of right" element and the 

Chaplin and Nicholas standards described in Section A above. 

First, whether Li was kicked out or left after he brought a new wife 

home (Item 1) or whether Li and Van split sale proceeds of an unrelated 

property 15 years ago in 2000 (Item 2) are so obviously irrelevant/ 

immaterial to any dispositive issue that they require no explanation.  As to 

Item 3, it is undisputed, as conceded by Li's counsel (RP 12:14-19), that Li 

was kept from the "joint" account and received no information about it 

throughout the entire period at issue, let alone putting any money in it or 

using it in any way.  It is also undisputed that Li did not receive the utility 

bills with his name on it (Item 4) the whole time. RP 13:9-16 (Li's counsel 

agreed it's undisputed).  These have no bearing on any dispositive issue. 

Li's evidence that he received an income/expense breakdown (Item 

5) for reporting on his 1997 tax return, but not 1998 or thereafter helps 

establish the hostility/claim of right element under Chaplin and Nicholas. 

Li's conclusory statements that he did not receive notice until 2011 

and he thought Van was "helping" him until 2012 (Items 6 and 7) are not 
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only unreasonable given his specific testimony about Van's excluding him 

in the late 1990s and 2000, but also insufficient to raise any issue of fact 

under Snohomish County v. Rugg, 115 Wn. App. at 224.  No actual verbal 

or written notice of adverse possession is required.  Nicholas, 1 Wn. App. 

at 137.  Li's alleged subjective belief is irrelevant.  The dispositive issue is 

the manner in which Van treated the Subject Properties.  See Chaplin, 100 

Wn.2d at 861 (nature of one's possession determined solely on the basis of 

the manner in which one treats the property).  The way Van treated the 

Subject Properties since 1998 put Li on notice and leaves no doubt in any 

reasonable person's mind about her adverse possession for more than the 

required statutory period.   

C. Li's express trust argument to toll the statute of limitation has 
no legal and factual basis and is belied by his own testimony 
that he had no agreement with Van to manage his finances. 

 
Li's testimony establishing Van's adverse possession also show Li's 

counterclaims for partition and accounting are time-barred. 

RCW 4.16.020 provides that the period of the commencement of 

actions shall be as follows: 

Within ten years:  (1) For actions for the recovery of 
real property, or for the recovery of the possession 
thereof; and no action shall be maintained for such 
recovery unless it appears that the plaintiff, his or her 
ancestor, predecessor or grantor was seized or 
possessed of the premises in question within ten years 
before the commencement of the action. 
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RCW 4.16.020(1) (Emphasis added).  The Washington Supreme Court is 

in accord.  Hyde v. Britton, 41 Wash. 277, 281-282, 83 P. 307 (1906) (one 

who cannot show possession of premises by self within ten years cannot 

sue for partition); Pilcher v. Lotzgesell, 57 Wash. 471, 107 P. 340 (1910). 

 In the case sub judice, by his own admissions, Li has not been in 

Washington State from 1998 to 2012 and did nothing for well over 10 

years, despite Van's allegedly withholding "his" money and allegedly 

seizing/taking the Subject Properties from him.  Li's claim for partition is 

time-barred under RCW 4.16.020. 

Li's claim is also separately and independently time-barred under 

RCW 4.16.040.  The statute prescribes a 6-year limit on any "action for 

the rents and profits or for the use and occupation of real estate."  RCW 

4.16.040(3).  Here, for the same reasons stated above, Li's claim for 

accounting is certainly time-barred. 

Li argues the statute of limitation was tolled because of an express 

trust formed by virtue of an almost 3-decades-old, never-before-used 

general power of attorney (POA) signed by Li alone while the parties were 

still married. While creative, this argument is belied by Li's own testimony 

and is meritless.  “Express trusts" are "those that are created by contract of 

the parties and intentionally.”  Farrell v. Mentzer, 102 Wash. 629, 632, 
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174 P. 482 (1918).  Here, Li testified he had no agreement with Van to 

manage his finances, let alone any agreement to create any express trust.  

See CP 153:10-16 (Li's Dep. at p.77:7-13).  The POA was signed by only Li 

during marriage. Van has never used it for anything.  CP 217:8-9.  Li cannot 

point to one single transaction where the POA was actually used by Van.  

Regardless of how lawyers from either side want to argue the POA, there 

was no contract required by Farrell for any express trust between Li and 

Van.  Moreover, it is untenable and unreasonable to hold any other person 

responsible for one's unspecified properties for an indefinite period of 

time, forever, just by unilaterally signing a general POA. 

Even assuming arguendo there were an express trust, an action 

based on an express trust is subject to the three-year statute of limitations 

in RCW 4.16.080.  Goodman v. Goodman, 128 Wn.2d 366, 373, 907 P.2d 

290 (1995).  The statute of limitations on an express trust action begins to 

run when the beneficiary of the trust discovers or should have discovered 

the trust has been terminated or repudiated by the trustee.  Id.  A 

repudiation occurs when the trustee by words or other conduct denies 

there is a trust and claim the trust property as his or her own.  Id.    Here, 

the conclusive evidence of adverse possession also conclusively shows a 

repudiation of any alleged express trust as of 1998.  Accordingly, any such 

action based on an express trust would have been long time-barred. 
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D. Li's motion for continuance after the trial court's summary 
judgment decision was untimely, failed to satisfy CR 56(f) 
requirements, and failed to specify evidence sought that would 
meet any dispositive issue or create any material issue of fact. 

 
The trial court's decision under CR 56(f) is reviewed for manifest 

abuse of discretion.  State ex rel. Citizens Against Tolls (CAT) v. Murphy, 

151 Wn.2d 226, 237 n.4, 88 P.3d 375 (2004); Van Dinter v. Kennewick, 64 

Wn. App. 930, 936, 827 P.2d 329 (1992). A trial court abuses its 

discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable 

grounds or untenable reasons.  Roats v. Blakely Island Maint. Comm'n, 

Inc., 169 Wn. App. 263, 284, 279 P.3d 943 (2012).  A trial court's decision 

is manifestly unreasonable if it is outside the range of acceptable choices.  

Id.  Where a continuance is not clearly requested, the trial court does not 

err in deciding a summary judgment motion based on the evidence before 

it.  See Colwell v. Holy Family Hosp., 104 Wn. App. 606, 615, 15 P.3d 

210 (2001). 

In the case at bar, Li did not request any continuance before the 

originally scheduled October 2014 hearing or the rescheduled February 

2015 hearing.  During oral argument on February 27, 2015, Li's counsel 

appeared to indicate a need for more time in response to the trial court's 

question, but immediately negated that notion and chose to go on with the 

hearing.  RP 8:9-16.  After this Court had already granted the summary 
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judgment motion and signed the order, Li's counsel asked, "so it is too late 

to ask for a continuance of the hearing, your honor?"  Since an unclear 

pre-ruling request for continuance is already unacceptable under Colwell, 

a never-made one (untimely one made after the fact) here is certainly not 

acceptable.  Frankly, it appears that Li's motion for continuance was an 

afterthought in an attempt to change this Court's mind about its summary 

judgment decision. Being such, the request cannot be made properly under 

CR 56(f), and the trial court properly denied it. 

Assuming arguendo that a timely CR 56(f) motion had been made, 

no continuance would have been warranted.  A CR 56(f) motion requires 

the party seeking a continuance to offer "a good reason for the delay in

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